IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 81,963

AUG 2 1993

SID J.

By_

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

JOHN R. PATRY and LINDA PATRY, Individually and as Parents and Next Friends of CHAD M. PATRY, a Minor Child,

Petitioners,

-vs.-

WILLIAM L CAPPS, M.D. and WILLIAM L. CAPPS, M.D., P.A.,

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROY D. WASSON Florida Bar No. 332070 Suite 402, Courthouse Tower 44 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 374-8919

RICHARD A. BOKOR Florida Bar No. 106580 230 East Davis Boulevard Tampa, Florida 33601 (813) 254-6327

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is a petition for discretionary review of a two-to-one decision of the Second District Court of Appeal which affirmed the dismissal of Plaintiffs/Petitioners' medical malpractice Complaint. While expressing its "regret [for] the harshness of the result," the Second District held that dismissal was proper because "Patry did not give notice of intent to initiate litigation for medical malpractice by <u>certified mail</u>, <u>return receipt requested</u>, as provided in section 766.106[, Fla. Stat. (1991)." The district court went on to note the manner in which the notice of intent had been served: "Instead, <u>actual written notice was delivered to Capps</u>." App. 2. (emphasis added). It is undisputed that the notice of intent, with attached corroborating affidavit from a medical doctor, was hand delivered in a timely fashion on May 30, 1990, as established by the sworn Certificate of Hand Delivery executed by Patricia A. Nicholas. R-77.

On June 15, 1990, the Defendants' insurer acknowledged receipt of the notice letter and commenced informal presuit discovery, without raising any objection to the alleged deficiency in the mode of service of the notice. R-79. Then, on June 29, 1990, an attorney appearing on behalf of Dr. Capps and his P.A. wrote a letter to Plaintiff's counsel noting objection to the service of the notice of intent, "in that it was not sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, as specifically required by F.S. §

766.106."¹ R-82.

Notwithstanding that stated objection of June 29th, Dr, Capps' attorney actively began pre-suit discovery; on July 2, 1990, he wrote to the Plaintiffs' attorney asking for a copy of a letter providing documentation of the claim and requesting a copy of the hospital chart. R-83. No mention was made in that letter of any alleged defect in the notice of intent. R-83.

One week later, on July 9th, Defendants' attorney again wrote to the Plaintiffs' attorney requesting copies of hospital charts and expressing a sense of urgency in completing Defendants' "presuit investigation." R-84. Again, no objection was stated to the service of the notice of intent by hand delivery. <u>Id.</u> Plaintiffs' counsel sent the hospital charts to the Defendants' attorney the next day. R-85.

On July 11, 1990, Defendants' efforts to defend on the merits of the case continued, with a single-sentence letter from Dr. Capps' lawyer to Plaintiffs' lawyer which said: "Enclosed please find a medical authorization that I request you have your client sign and return to me." R-86. No mention was made of a problem with the notice of intent. Id.

On July 27, 1990, Plaintiffs responded to each of Defendants' thirteen enumerated requests² for information concerning the

¹As noted by Judge Altenbernd in his dissenting opinion, the parties have consistently referred to the later-enacted version of the notice statute, although it appears that § 768.57 should apply instead. See App. 5, n. 2.

²The Defendants' request for such information has fourteen numbered paragraphs, but one number was skipped. R-79-80.

claim. R-88-89. By letter dated August 7, 1990, Plaintiffs' counsel provided additional information concerning the claim, and provided a signed medical authorization form. R-90-93.

The only other pre-suit record mention of the method of service of the notice of intent was in the stipulation to extend the pre-suit screening period signed by the parties' counsel. R-28. By that stipulation, the parties agreed to extend the pre-suit period for thirty days, recognized that the Plaintiff's would have sixty days thereafter to file suit, and stated "that nothing <u>herein</u> shall operate as a waiver of any defenses otherwise available to Dr. Capps . . . [under] F.S. §766.106 et seq. and including . . . the alleged failure to send the 'Notice of Intent' letter to Dr. Capps by certified mail, return receipt requested." R-28 (emphasis added).

The last pre-suit activity reflected in this record is the response to the claim made on September 27, 1990, wherein the Defendants, through their attorney, denied the claim. R-94. That denial did not have anything to do with the sufficiency of service of the notice of intent, and did not mention the notice. <u>Id.</u> Instead, the denial was based solely on Defendants' opinion on the merits of the case; the letter stated: "It is . . . [Defendants' expert, Dr. Hochberg's] opinion that Dr. Capps did not fall below the standard of care owed to Linda Patry and Chad Patry and <u>therefore</u> we are denying the claim." R-94 (emphasis added).

The Complaint was filed in the Hillsborough Circuit Court on October 26, 1990. R-1. In paragraph 2 of the Complaint, Plaintiffs

stated: "Pursuant to the provisions of F.S. 766.106, all conditions precedent have been performed or have occurred prior to the bringing of this action." R-2.

Defendants filed no Motion to Dismiss the Complaint, but filed an Answer. R-7-9. Defendants did not with specificity deny the performance of conditions precedent, but stated in their Answer only the following: "Deny, or without knowledge, and therefore deny." R-7. Nowhere in the Answer do the Defendants mention the method of service of the notice of intent by hand delivery, nor did they refer to the notice of intent in any fashion.

Defendants did not plead an affirmative defense based on the statute of limitations in their Answer. A defense was raised which merely stated that "Defendant is entitled . . . to the application of all the provisions of the Medical Malpractice Reform Act of 1976 and the Comprehensive Medical Malpractice Reform Act of 1985." R-8. The only other defenses were those based on the collateral source payments, a purported "limitation on non-economic damages," and a right to set-offs for amounts paid by joint tortfeasors. R-8.

Discovery ensued, as reflected in the Motion for Leave to File Additional Defenses served on February 26, 1991. R-70. Defendants by that motion sought an amendment to plead the statute of limitations and stated "that additional discovery and research has indicated this defense." R-70. That motion was granted. R-10. The statute of limitations defense as pleaded did not refer to the sufficiency of the service of the notice of intent. <u>See</u> R-70-71.

Almost eleven months after suit was filed and seven months

after pleading the statute of limitations defense, the Defendants filed their motion for summary judgment, which was based on the ground that "the Notice of Intent to Initiate Litigation for Medical Malpractice was not sent by the statutorily mandated 'certified mail, return receipt requested.'" R-11. Defendants did not allege that they had not received the notice in a timely fashion and did not allege that they had been prejudiced in any way by the personal delivery of the notice of intent. <u>See</u> R-11-12.

The trial court granted the Defendants' motion and entered summary judgment for them, finding that the "Notice of Intent to Initiate Litigation sent by hand delivery and received by Dr. Capps' office on May 30, 1990 does not and did not comply with the substantive and mandatory requirements of F.S. 766.106," and finding that the statute of limitations had since expired. R-15-16.

Plaintiffs timely filed a motion for rehearing. R-17. That motion was denied. R-29. A notice of appeal to the Second District was timely filed. R-33. The appeal was briefed and argued.

On March 19, 1993, the Second District issued its original opinion, affirming the judgment below after concluding "that delivery of written notice fails to comply with the statutory requirements." App. 2. The majority decision of the Second District also rejected the argument of Plaintiffs/Appellants that Defendants had waived the objection to the service of notice. <u>Id.</u>

Judge Parker wrote a specially-concurring decision in which he stated his agreement "with the reasoning set forth in Judge Altenbernd's dissent." App. 3. Judge Parker encouraged this Court "to clarify its position in <u>Williams[v. Campagnulo</u>, 588 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1991)] to determine if the certified mail requirement is truly substantive." App. 3. That concurrence went on to state as follows:

If the undisputed evidence reflects that the notice of intent was placed in the doctor's office within the time permitted by the statute, the purpose for the statute has been satisfied. To dismiss a cause of action with prejudice because the United States Post Office was not involved in the delivery will cause the public to believe the appellate opinions addressing the notice issue have lost touch with reality.

App. 3 (emphasis added).

Judge Altenbernd wrote a vigorous, nine-page dissent, which ended with the following question which he would certify to this Court:

WHETHER THE REQUIREMENT IN A MEDICAL MALPRACTICE ACTION THAT NOTICE BE GIVEN BY CERTIFIED MAIL, RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED, IS (1) A SUBSTANTIVE ELEMENT OF THE STATUTORY TORT, OR (2) A PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENT THAT CAN BE DISREGARDED BY THE TRIAL COURT WHEN THE DEFENDANT RECEIVES ACTUAL WRITTEN NOTICE IN A TIMELY MANNER THAT RESULTS IN NO PREJUDICE.

App. 12.

Plaintiffs/Appellants filed a motion for rehearing, motion for en banc rehearing, motion for certification, and motion for clarification. The Second District denied rehearing, denied en banc rehearing, but held: "The motion for certification is granted to the extent that the members of the panel join in the certified question contained in Judge Altenbernd's initial dissent." App. 13-14. This proceeding ensued.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should adopt the majority rule of "substantial compliance" which exists outside Florida and which holds that, in determining the sufficiency of service of a statutorily-required notice, timely receipt of that notice acknowledged by the recipient is sufficient under statutes requiring service by certified mail, in the absence of a showing of any prejudice to the recipient resulting from the mode of delivery. The service of the notice of intent by hand delivery in the present case amply satisfied the Legislature's purpose for the notice requirement, which is to notify prospective defendants of medical malpractice claims and to promote the settlement of such claims, when appropriate, and not to function as a trap for medical malpractice claimants.

Secondly, this Court should hold that the defense of alleged insufficient notice was waived by Defendants not having denied the occurrence of conditions precedent with specificity in their Answer. Under either analysis, the decision below should be quashed and the certified question be answered to reflect that this cause be reinstated.

ARGUMENT

I.

THIS COURT SHOULD FOLLOW THE MAJORITY RULE THAT ADMITTEDLY TIMELY RECEIPT OF A NOTICE IS SUFFICIENT AS SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE WITH A STATUTE PROVIDING FOR NOTICE BY CERTIFIED MAIL, IN THE ABSENCE OF A SHOWING OF PREJUDICE

The decision below should be quashed and the certified question be answered in a manner which follows the majority rule, which is that timely receipt of a notice, acknowledged by the recipient, is sufficient to withstand a challenge to the mode of service under statutes requiring service by certified mail, in the absence of a showing of any prejudice to the recipient resulting from the mode of delivery. In the case at bar there is no issue of prejudice. The only issue is whether some rule of law requires strict adherence to a method of service which is inferior to that method actually used; notwithstanding the fact that actual timely notice was received; notwithstanding the fact that no prejudice resulted to the Defendant; and notwithstanding the fact that undeniable injustice would result to the Plaintiffs from applying such a rule.

Petitioners submit that the absurdity of such a result is too great to permit the decision under review to stand, even if there were no other authorities on the point. However, there are many cases from jurisdictions around the nation on factual patterns so closely on point as to be ready authority for Petitioner's position in this case. As will be shown, Florida will be in a very lonely

8

SUITE 402 COURTHOUSE TOWER, 44 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130 · TELEPHONE (305) 374-8919

minority--if not altogether alone--if this Court should approve the Second District's unjust decision.

Prior to addressing the applicable authorities on the specific issue at bar, it may be useful to review some statements of law on the general subject of statutory construction. A helpful place to start is with a quotation from this Court which recognizes that the goal of achieving the Legislature's purpose is more important than adhering to the specific words of the subject statute: "As the Court often has noted, our obligation is to honor the obvious legislative intent and policy behind an enactment, even where that intent requires an interpretation that exceeds the literal language of the statute." <u>Byrd v. Richardson-Greenshields Securities, Inc.</u>, 552 So. 2d 1099, 1102 (Fla. 1989). As will be shown, the intent of the Legislature was met by the hand delivery of the notice in the present case.

Another statement of law which is directly applicable to the present case is this Court's pronouncement that "[t]he courts . . . are obligated to avoid construing a statute so as to achieve an absurd or unreasonable result." <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So. 2d 161, 167 (Fla. 1987). As will be shown, other courts which have considered the issue at bar agree that it would be wholly unreasonable and absurd to hold that a notice actually received is insufficient merely because the Legislature set forth a provision for service by certified mail.

Another statement of statutory construction is useful to describe the balancing which must occur between fundamental rights

to due process, equal protection, and access to the courts on the one hand, and the state's power to regulate on the other. Even where no suspect class or fundamental right is affected by a statute, and the State's power to regulate the area "must only be rationally related to a legitimate state interest," it is also true that "a statutory classification cannot be wholly arbitrary." Vildibill v. Johnson, 492 So. 2d 1047, 1050 (Fla. 1986).

This Court in <u>Vildibill</u> went on to hold: "If a statute may reasonably be construed in more than one manner, this Court is obligated to adopt the construction that comports with the dictates of the constitution." <u>Id.</u> The result of the Second District is to separate other litigants and the present Plaintiffs into the following two categories: 1) those who serve their notice of intent by certified mail and who are permitted to proceed to trial; 2) those who serve their notice of intent by a superior means of delivery, but whom are denied access to the courtroom. As will be shown, such a result is an arbitrary classification that bears no rational relationship to any legitimate legislative object.

As a final authority on the topic of statutory construction, Petitioners ask this Court to adopt the reasoning of a Second District decision which apparently was overlooked by that Court in its ruling in this case, as follows: "It is our primary duty to give effect to legislative intent and, <u>if a literal interpretation</u> of a statute leads to unreasonable results, then we should exercise <u>our power to interpret the statute in such a way as to impart</u> <u>reason and logic to it.</u>" <u>Catron v. Bohn</u>, 580 So. 2d 814, 818 (Fla. 2d DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 591 So. 2d 183 (Fla. 1991). All that the Petitioners ask of this Court is to "impart reason and logic" to the statute in question and recognize the doctrine of substantial compliance where actual notice has been received and no prejudice has resulted.

There are many useful cases from other jurisdictions on the subject of the sufficiency of notice delivered in a manner other than by statutorily-required certified mail, and on closely analogous points of other defects in the form and service of notices of various types. Petitioners present the following brief overview of several of the significant decisions from other states.

In a case involving a materialman's claim against a contractor and its surety, the actual receipt of notice of the claim was held to satisfy the statutory notice requirement under Massachusetts law, in spite of a statutory provision which normally required notice of the claim to be submitted by registered or certified mail. The court held: "Statutory prescription of registered mail or certified mail notice is to facilitate proof of delivery of notice. If actual timely notice is proved . . . , failure to comply with a registered or certified mail requirement is not a fatal deviation from statutory procedures." <u>Cinder Products Corp.</u> v. Schena Constr. Co., 492 N.E.2d 744, 746 (Mass. App. Ct. 1986).

In <u>Larabee v. Washington</u>, 793 S.W.2d 357 (Mo. Ct. App. 1990), the Missouri court affirmed an award of prejudgment interest in a personal injury case, based on the defendant's refusal of Plaintiff's offer of settlement made before trial. On appeal, the Defendant argued that "the trial court erred in awarding plaintiff prejudgment interest because plaintiff did not send the letter [containing the settlement offer] by certified mail as required by RSMO § 408.040(2) but by regular mail." <u>Id.</u> at 361. In rejecting Defendant's argument, the court held:

Generally, one having actual notice is not prejudiced by and may not complain of the failure to receive statutory notice. . . Statutes that impose certain technical requirements for notice should not be strictly enforced where the party seeking enforcement had actual notice and cannot show prejudice as a result of the failure to follow the technical requirements.

<u>Id.</u> (citation omitted). <u>See also, Macon-Atlanta State Bank v.</u> <u>Gall</u>, 666 S.W.2d 934 (Mo. Ct. App. 1984)(failure to give notice of foreclosure sale by certified or registered mail did not render sale void where actual notice was received and prejudice not shown).

While dealing with the form of a notice of claim rather than its mode of delivery, the court in a Michigan case indicated that strict adherence to technical requirements is not required when the notice effectuates the purpose of the applicable statute, holding: "As a matter of judicial policy, courts favor a liberal construction of notice requirements and have not denied relief when the notice may be reasonably interpreted as in substantial compliance with the applicable statute." <u>Dreslinski v. City of</u> <u>Detroit</u>, 194 N.W.2d 551, 551 (Mich. Ct. App. 1971).

The doctrine of "substantial compliance" with statutory notice provisions has been accepted by the Michigan Supreme Court to permit prosecution of valid claims notwithstanding technical defects in the notice, where the defendant has not been misled by the defect. <u>See Meredith v. City of Melvindale</u>, 165 N.W.2d 7 (Mich. 1969).

Illinois follows very similar rules of statutory construction to those of Florida outlined above. "In construing statutory requirements as to notice, the courts must look to substance rather than merely to form in seeking the true intention of the General Assembly." <u>Gutierrez v. Board of Review</u>, 341 N.E.2d 115, 118 (Ill. App. Ct. 1975).

The courts of Illinois follow a rule that actual receipt of a notice in substantial compliance with the form required by statute is sufficient, in the absence of a showing of prejudice by the recipient from the failure of the form of the notice to strictly comply with technical requirements of the statute. "Recent court cases in other matters have held that statutes imposing certain technical requirements for notice may not be strictly enforced if the parties seeking enforcement had actual notice and cannot show prejudice as a result of the opposing party's failure to comply with technical requirements." <u>Prairie Vista, Inc. v. Central</u> Illinois Light Co., 346 N.E.2d 72, 74 (Ill. App. Ct. 1976).

Indiana also follows this majority rule of substantial compliance with statutory notice provisions:

Indiana courts have held that if legal notice is required by statute, there may be compliance if the action intended to provide notice substantially satisfies the requirements of the statute. . . If the notice which the party receives achieves the purpose for which the statute was intended, the courts will find substantial compliance with the statute.

<u>Salem Community School Corp. v. Richman</u>, 406 N.E.2d 269, 272 (Ind. Ct. App. 1980)(citations omitted). <u>Accord.</u>, <u>Houchins v. Kittle's</u> Home Furnishings, 589 N.E.2d 1190 (Ind. Ct. App. 1992).

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