IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 81,963

JOHN R. PATRY and LINDA PATRY, Individually and as Parents and Next Friends of CHAD M. PATRY, a Minor Child,

Petitioners,

vs.

WILLIAM L. CAPPS, M.D. and WILLIAM L. CAPPS, M.D., P.A.

Respondents.

ON CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

TED R. MANRY, III Florida Bar No. 115448 STEPHEN H. SEARS Florida Bar No. 097895 MACFARLANE FERGUSON 111 Madison Street Suite 2300 Post Office Box 1531 Tampa, Florida 33601 813/273-4206

ATTORNEYS FOR WILLIAM L. CAPPS, M.D., and WILLIAM L. CAPPS, M.D., P.A.

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

[439 So.2d at 883].

Both the dissent in the Second District and Patry (Patry Initial Brief, p. 19) seek to find solace in this Court's statement in Williams v. Campagnulo, 588 So.2d at 993 (quoted completely and in context, supra p. 19), that: ". . . the statute is primarily substantive." Of course, this Court's opinion continued " . . . and that it has been procedurally implemented by our rule 1.650, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure."

In addition to this Court's opinion in <u>Williams v. Campagnulo</u>, acknowledging the substantive nature of the statute, in adopting and approving Florida Rule of Civil Procedure, 1.650, this Court also has mandated "certified mail, return receipt requested." <u>In re Medical Malpractice Pre-suit Screening Rules - Civil Rules of</u>

Procedure, Rule 1.650, 536 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1988). As adopted, Rule
1.650 states in pertinent part:

RULE 1.650. MEDICAL MALPRACTICE PRESUIT SCREENING RULE

- (a) Scope of Rule. This rule applies only to the procedures prescribed by Section 768.57, Florida Statutes, for presuit screening of claims for medical malpractice.
 - (b) Notice.
- (1) Notice of intent to initiate litigation sent by certified mail to and received by any prospective defendant shall operate as notice to the person and any other prospective defendant who bears a legal relationship to the prospective defendant receiving the notice. The notice shall make the recipient a party to the proceeding under this rule. (Emphasis added).

(d) Time Requirements.

(1) The Notice of Intent to Initiate Litigation shall be served by certified mail, return receipt requested, prior to the expiration of any applicable statute of limitations. If an extension has been granted under Section 768.495(2), Florida Statutes, or by an agreement of the parties, the notice shall be served within the extended period. (Emphasis added).

In a subsequent amendment to the Rule, not otherwise pertinent here, <u>In re Amendment to Rules of Civil Procedure</u> - <u>Rule 1.650(d)(2)</u>, 568 So.2d 1273 (Fla. 1990), this Court recognized that the Rule's purpose was to enact procedures identical to the presuit notice requirements of the statute:

The existing rule 1.650 was adopted by this Court to provide uniform procedures for implementing the medical malpractice pre-suit notice requirements of section 768.57, Florida

Statutes (Supp. 1986) (renumbered as section 766.106, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988)). <u>In re Medical Malpractice Presuit Screening Rules - Civil Rules of Procedure</u>, 536 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1988).

Are Patry and Amicus now to argue that this Court's adoption of the same requirement in Rule 1.650 was not actually intended, and was to be ignored?

As noted in <u>Glineck v. Lentz</u>, quoted, <u>supra</u> p. 16-17, the Legislature's purpose in mandating the manner of the notice was "... to eliminate or reduce contention in litigation concerning compliance with the notice requirement." In light of this, as it has in other instances, the Legislature prescribed the United States Mail as a neutral "third party" and "certified mail, return receipt requested" as a reasonable and rational means to verify service. This is clearly a proper matter for legislative action which should not be second guessed by this Court.

The importance of the Legislature's mandate is further underscored by Rule 1.650(d). As noted In re Amendment to Rules of

Under 768.57(3)(a) it is clear that the serving period runs from the time the prescribed notice is mailed: "[N]o suit may be filed for a period of 90 days after notice is mailed to the prospective defendant." (Emphasis added). (Now §766.106(3)(a), Florida Statutes (1991)). Furthermore, §768.57(4) emphasizes service as the key and not receipt " . . . shall be served within the limits set forth in s.95.11." (Emphasis added). (Now, §766.106(4), Florida Statutes (1991)). The statute follows longstanding Florida precedent. So long as the mailing is in accordance with the substantive requirement of "certified mail, return receipt requested," placing the letter in the mail, properly addressed and with proper postage is sufficient. In the absence of specific statutory language to the contrary, Florida follows a general rule that service of a notice is complete upon mailing. C.f., Insurance Company of N. America v. Sunrise Catering, 447 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Fla.R.Civ.P., 1.080: Service by mail shall be complete upon mailing . . . ".

Civil Procedure, Rule 1.650(d)(2), supra, this Court has amended the Rule to maintain consistency between the statute and the Rule with respect to time requirements. A reasonable, inexpensive method for independent verification of service of the notice is vital because, as the Rule reflects, all other actions and events, including the right to file suit and the tolling of the statute of limitations and the expiration of the pre-suit screening period are governed by the date of the service of pre-suit notice.

Patry's Initial Brief goes to great lengths to convince this Court that the Legislature's choice of "certified mail, return receipt requested" may not provide sufficient evidence in all cases. Certainly, there are no reported decisions that the undersigned has been able to find which involve any of the speculative problems which Patry's Initial Brief attempts to portray. Acknowledgment that no system or mode is perfect does not provide any basis for this Court to substitute an "actual notice" or "actual written notice" requirement. Certainly, had the Legislature's intent been simply "actual notice," rather than the unambiguous requirement of "certified mail, return receipt requested," the Legislature would have written the statute in that

⁵ Of course, in raising this argument for the first time on rehearing below, Patry has pretermitted any ability to test his fact specific arguments. In any event, the legal profession undoubtedly has familiarity with "certified mail, return receipt requested." Any plaintiff's attorney, to guard against any potential problems, would certainly postmark or validly date and postmark the letter and receipt. Patry's arguments are merely strawmen which should be disregarded as untimely raised in any event. See, e.g., Morales v. Sperry Rand Corporation, 601 So.2d 538, 540 (Fla. 1992).

manner.

Because of the importance of the presuit notice in tolling the statute of limitations and establishing the time from which governs all subsequent actions, including the filing of any complaint, the Legislature's choice of "certified mail, return receipt requested," to accomplish verification of service of the notice by an independent third party, should not be allowed to be easily avoided. Notwithstanding receipt and acknowledgment of the notice, Trial Counsel for Patry's conscious decision to disregard the statute and deliver the notice by hand, through an interested office employee, should not be condoned.

In choosing "certified mail, return receipt requested," it is obvious that the Legislature sought the most expeditious and least burdensome method of assuring adequate and verifiable notice which would hopefully reduce litigation over this most important and controlling date from the standpoint of initiating a medical malpractice case. In this regard, it is apparent that the Legislature has been <u>successful</u>. The cases which have arisen have, for the most part, stemmed from the failure to counsel to read or follow a clearly worded statute.

It was this total legislative intent and purpose which was recognized by this Court in <u>Ingersoll</u>, 589 So.2d at 224 (quoted, <u>supra p. 17</u>, the Fifth District in <u>Novitsky</u>, (quoted, <u>supra pp. 17-18</u>) and the Second District in <u>Solimando</u>. Thus, Patry's plea that because notice was sent and received resulting in no "actual prejudice" to Capps, this Court should ignore the statutory mandate

simply invites this Court to manufacture an exception which would have the effect of "swallowing the rule" so to speak with respect to all future cases. The legislative purpose to reduce litigation by providing a simple verifiable means of service will have been thwarted.

Both Patry and Amicus expend much energy in seeking to convince this Court, contrary to its previous pronouncement in Ingersoll, supra, statutory mandate that the is technicality" which should be viewed only as "directory." cite decisions from courts of this State and elsewhere interpreting the word "shall" in various circumstances and contexts. demonstrated above, and as recognized by the Fourth District in Campagnulo v. Williams, quoted, supra p. 20, from a substantive standpoint suffice it to say that the statute cannot be so interpreted in light of the plain meaning of the words used to reflect the Legislature's total intent with respect to the purposes to be accomplished. Holly v. Auld, quoted, supra pp. 9-10.

Company v. State, 415 So.2d 109 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982), in an attempt to convince this Court that the statute's mandate is "...a non-essential mode of proceeding..." (quoted, Amicus Intial Brief, pp. 8-9) is both factually and otherwise inapplicable. As with the deprivation of a substantive right or the imposition of a legislatively intended penalty referenced in Allied, the substantive statutory mandate in this case controls and establishes the tolling of the statute of limitations, which would otherwise

prevent a plaintiff bring an action for malpractice, as well as other substantive requirements thereafter, to and including the filing of suit.⁶

Both Patry and Amicus cite Zacker v. Croft, 609 So.2d 140 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), for the proposition that the statute operates as a "trap." While Zacker has no factual application to the issue at bar, and was correctly decided because plaintiff's counsel in that case complied with the statute (thus validly effectuating service, notwithstanding the fact that Defendant had recently moved from his last known address, see, n. 4, supra p. 23), the statute certainly did not act as any trap for Trial Counsel for Patry. Any such contention is factitious where Trial Counsel for Patry: (1) Admitted before the District Court that he was aware of the mandate of the statute and chose not to follow it; and (2) was of the opinion that the statute of limitations had not run at the time of the service of the notice, but took no action to avoid any problem when advised by Capps' Counsel, upon receipt of the notice from Capps' insurer, that he would challenge the service of the notice.

Patry's citation of <u>Vildibill v. Johnson</u>, 492 So.2d 1047 (Fla. 1986), as usual is a late attempt to inferentially raise a specious due process and equal protection argument which is totally without

The dicta relied upon by Patry and Amicus in Angrand v. Fox, 552 So.2d 1113, 1114 n. 4 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989), pet. denied 563 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1990), involving premature filing prior to expiration of 90 day investigation period, is the Second District's decision in Solimando. Phoenix Insurance Company v. McCormick, 542 So.2d 1030 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989) although involving only contractual relations, was probably wrongly decided.

merit in any event. <u>Vildibill</u> is neither factually nor legally applicable to the present statute in any way. The statutory mandate at issue does not in any way create a classification which is purely arbitrary or totally unrelated to any state interest, as previously demonstrated. It operates equally upon all medical malpractice plaintiffs and defendants. As stated in <u>Carter v. Sparkman</u>, 335 So.2d 802, 805 (Fla. 1976):

Although Courts are generally opposed to any burden being placed on rights of aggrieved persons to enter courts because constitutional guarantee of access, there may be reasonable restrictions placed by law. Typical examples are the fixing of a time within which suit must be brought, payment of reasonable court costs, pursuit of certain administrative relief such as zoning matters workmans compensation claims, requirement that newspapers be given the right of retraction before an action for libel may be filed.

The citation of <u>Vildibill</u>, and other rules of "statutory construction," and the assertion of both Patry and Amicus that the present statute leads to "absurd results," are also simply without merit. As previously stated, the fact that the Legislature could have chosen another manner of verifiable service, or that other manners exist, or the fact that problems might arise with respect to the manner chosen by the Legislature, does not support any argument that the legislative choice is unreasonable or leads to ridiculous results. Neither Patry nor Amicus cite any ambiguity in the statute which needs construction. They cite no conflict with any other statute which would require construction beyond the plain meaning of the statutory words chosen. Rather, they present mere

hollow excuses to ignore the primary rule of statutory construction set forth in <u>Holly v. Auld</u>, quoted, <u>supra</u> pp. 9-10.7

II.

THERE HAS BEEN NO WAIVER BY FAILURE TO RAISE NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE STATUTORY MANDATE.

Patry's Initial Brief again attempts to rely upon <u>Ingersoll v.</u>

<u>Hoffman</u>, <u>supra</u>, to argue that Capps' Counsel waived objection to the hand delivered notice by failure to specifically raise the issue in his answer. This issue was raised for the first time on rehearing in the Trial Court. (R. 17-20). This Court's decision in <u>Ingersoll</u> had been issued September 26, 1991, 16 FLW S626, prior to the original November 15, 1991 hearing on the motion for summary judgment. (R. 15-16).

In rejecting any reliance upon <u>Ingersoll</u>, the Second District's opinion states:

Additionally, Patry seeks relief on authority of <u>Ingersoll v. Hoffman</u>, 589 So.2d 223 (Fla. 1991). The facts in the record before us do not provide a basis for estoppel or waiver as set forth in <u>Ingersoll</u>. Accordingly, we affirm.

[618 So.2d at 262].

At page 29 of Patry's Initial Brief, present primary Counsel for Patry erroneously takes the position, also asserted in the

As with Patry's speculative litary of problems which could arise under certified mail, but apparently have not yet arisen in any reported case, the Amicus's Initial Brief, at pp. 19-20, raises questions with respect to other mandatory provisions of \$766.106, which are not before the Court at this time. It is sufficient to note that the courts of Florida are certainly able to adequately deal with any such issues should they arise.

motion for rehearing in the Second District, that:

[T]he second district's decision reflects confusion and misunderstanding about Appellants' waiver argument in that court, where it holds that '[T]he facts in the record before us do not provide a basis for estoppel or waiver as set forth in Inqersoll.'

The balance of that paragraph on page 29 of the Initial Brief points out, correctly, that <u>Ingersoll</u> involved both the procedural waiver issue, and:

. . . the Plaintiff in <u>Ingersoll</u> argued that the Defendant was estopped by his conduct which was inconsistent with the defense, to the Plaintiff's detriment. Therefore, the Supreme Court needed to address both doctrines in its decision.

However, present appellate Counsel for Patry, who authored the motion for rehearing in the Second District, was obviously not then aware that Trial Counsel for Patry had attempted to raise, for the first time at oral argument, an Ingersoll estoppel theory based upon the carrier's correspondence to Trial Counsel for Patry.

Ingersoll did not decide this issue, notwithstanding its statement that:

[w]hile it is clear that Warren Hoffman and his insurance carrier were aware of that the Ingersolls were making a claim against him, mere knowledge of a potential claim cannot constitute a waiver or estoppel.

[589 So.2d at 224].

Notwithstanding the fact that the estoppel argument based upon the correspondence had clearly been waived by failure to timely raise it, the Second District's decision evidences no "confusion and misunderstanding about the Appellant's waiver argument." The opinion's wording simply reflects rejection of the late raised estoppel theory as well as the waiver assertion.

Patry's continued assertion that there was a pleading waiver in this case ignores <u>all</u> of the relevant facts. The full Record reveals that there was certainly no waiver of statutory compliance by Capps. There are substantial differences between this case and <u>Ingersoll</u> with regard to any waiver, which makes it understandable that the issue was not raised until rehearing in the Trial Court.

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